

EXHIBIT D

BYLAWS

OF

TWENTY-ONE IRVINGTON CONDOMINIUMS OWNERS ASSOCIATION

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
ARTICLE 1 PLAN OF CONDOMINIUM OWNERSHIP	1
1.1 Name and Location	1
1.2 Principal Office	1
1.3 Purposes	1
1.4 Applicability of Bylaws	1
1.5 Composition of Association.....	1
1.6 Incorporation.....	1
1.7 Definitions.....	1
ARTICLE 2 MEETINGS OF ASSOCIATION.....	1
2.1 Place of Meetings.....	1
2.2 Organizational and Turnover Meeting.....	2
2.3 Annual Meetings.....	2
2.4 Special Meetings.....	2
2.5 Notice of Meetings.....	2
2.6 Voting	2
2.7 Absentee Ballots and Proxies.....	3
2.8 Fiduciaries and Joint Owners.....	3
2.9 Tenants and Contract Vendors.....	3
2.10 Quorum of Unit Owners	3
2.11 Majority Vote.....	4
2.12 Order of Business.....	4
2.13 Rules of Order.....	4
2.14 Ballot Meetings.....	4
ARTICLE 3 BOARD OF DIRECTORS	5
3.1 Number and Qualification.....	5
3.2 Interim Directors.....	5
3.3 Election and Term of Office	6
3.4 Vacancies	6
3.5 Removal of Directors.....	6
3.6 Powers and Duties.....	6

3.7	Managing Agent or Manager	8
3.8	Contracts Entered into by Declarant or Interim Board	9
3.9	Organizational Meeting	9
3.10	Regular and Special Meetings	9
<hr/>		
3.11	Open Meetings	9
3.12	Waiver of Notice	10
3.13	Quorum of Board of Directors	10
3.14	Compensation	10
3.15	Liability and Indemnification of Directors, Officers and Manager.	10
3.16	Insurance	11
ARTICLE 4	OFFICERS	11
4.1	Designation	11
4.2	Election of Officers	11
4.3	Removal of Officers	11
4.4	Chairperson	11
4.5	Secretary	12
4.6	Treasurer	12
4.7	Execution of Instruments	12
4.8	Compensation of Officers	12
ARTICLE 5	BUDGET, EXPENSES AND ASSESSMENTS	12
5.1	Budget	12
5.2	Determination of Common Expenses	13
5.3	Assessment of Common Expenses	13
	(a) Obligation to pay	13
	(b) Working capital fund.	13
	(c) Commencement of regular operating expense assessments.	14
	(d) Commencement of assessment for replacement reserves.	14
5.4	Special or Extraordinary Assessments	14
	(a) Special Assessments for Capital Improvements.	14
	(b) Other Special or Extraordinary Assessments.	14
5.5	Replacement Reserves	14
	(a) Establishment of Account	14
	(b) Funding of Account.	15

	(c) Reserve Studies.....	15
	(d) Use of Reserve Funds.....	15
	(e) Sale of Units.....	15
5.6	Default in Payment of Assessments.....	16
5.7	Foreclosure of Liens for Unpaid Assessments.....	16
5.8	Statement of Assessments.....	16
5.9	Priority of Lien; First Mortgages.....	16
5.10	Voluntary Conveyance.....	17
ARTICLE 6	RECORDS AND AUDITS.....	17
6.1	General Records.....	17
6.2	Financial Records and Accounts.....	17
6.3	Assessment Roll.....	17
6.4	Payment of Vouchers.....	17
6.5	Reports and Audits.....	18
6.6	Notice of Sale, Mortgage, Rental or Lease.....	18
6.7	Availability of Records.....	18
6.8	Statement of Assessments Due.....	18
ARTICLE 7	MAINTENANCE AND USE OF CONDOMINIUM PROPERTY.....	19
7.1	Maintenance and Repair.....	19
	(a) Units.....	19
	(b) Common elements.....	19
7.2	Additions, Alterations or Improvements.....	19
7.3	Damage or Destruction by Casualty of Condominium Property.....	20
7.4	Condemnation.....	21
	(a) Complete Taking.....	21
	(b) Partial Taking.....	21
7.5	Restrictions and Requirements Respecting Use of Condominium Property.....	21
	(a) Residential use.....	21
	(b) Use of common elements.....	22
	(c) Offensive or unlawful activities.....	22
	(d) Animals.....	22
	(e) Exterior lighting or noisemaking devices and antennas.....	22
	(f) Windows, decks, patios and outside walls.....	23

(g)	Parking of Vehicles.....	23
(h)	Signs.....	23
(i)	Trash.....	23
(j)	Insurance.....	23
(k)	Water beds.....	23
(l)	Washing Machines.....	23
(m)	Association rules and regulations.....	23
7.6	Leasing and Rental of Units.....	24
7.7	Abatement and Enjoining of Violations.....	25
ARTICLE 8	INSURANCE.....	26
8.1	Types of Insurance.....	26
(a)	Property Damage Insurance.....	26
(b)	Liability Insurance.....	26
(c)	Workers' Compensation Insurance.....	27
(d)	Fidelity Insurance.....	27
(e)	Directors' and Officers' Liability Insurance.....	27
(f)	Insurance by Unit Owners.....	27
8.2	Other Insurance Requirements.....	28
8.3	Optional Provisions.....	29
8.4	FannieMae and GNMA Requirements.....	29
ARTICLE 9	AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS.....	30
9.1	How Proposed.....	30
9.2	Adoption.....	30
9.3	Execution and Recording.....	30
ARTICLE 10	DISPUTE RESOLUTION.....	30
10.1	Initial Dispute Resolution Procedures.....	30
10.2	Mediation.....	31
10.3	Arbitration.....	31
10.4	Selection of Arbitrator.....	32
10.5	Consolidated Arbitration.....	32
10.6	Discovery.....	32
10.7	Evidence.....	32
10.8	Excluded Matters.....	32

10.9	Costs and Attorneys' Fees	33
10.10	Survival	33
ARTICLE 11	MISCELLANEOUS	33
11.1	Notices	33
11.2	Waiver.....	33
11.3	Action Without a Meeting	34
11.4	Invalidity; Number; Captions	34
11.5	Conflicts.....	34

BYLAWS OF
TWENTY-ONE IRVINGTON CONDOMINIUMS OWNERS ASSOCIATION

Article 1

PLAN OF CONDOMINIUM OWNERSHIP

1.1 **Name and Location.** These are the bylaws of the TWENTY-ONE IRVINGTON CONDOMINIUMS OWNERS ASSOCIATION (the "Association"). Twenty-One Irvington Condominiums (the "Condominium") is located in the City of Portland, Multnomah County, Oregon, and has been submitted to the Oregon Condominium Act by a declaration recorded simultaneously with these Bylaws (the "Declaration"). The location of the Condominium is more specifically described in the Declaration.

1.2 **Principal Office.** The principal office of the Association shall be located at such address as may be designated by the board of directors from time to time.

1.3 **Purposes.** This Association is formed under the provisions of the Oregon Condominium Act to serve as the means through which the unit owners may take action with regard to the administration, management and operation of the Condominium.

1.4 **Applicability of Bylaws.** The Association, all unit owners, and all persons using the Condominium property shall be subject to these Bylaws and to all rules and regulations that may be adopted pursuant to these Bylaws.

1.5 **Composition of Association.** The Association shall be composed of all the unit owners of the Condominium, including Twenty-One Irvington, LLC, an Oregon limited liability company and its successors and assigns (the "Declarant"), and the Association, itself, to the extent any of these own any unit or units of the Condominium.

1.6 **Incorporation.** The Association shall be incorporated under the Oregon Non-Profit Corporation Law. The Articles of Incorporation of the Association shall be consistent with the Declaration and these Bylaws, and these Bylaws shall constitute the bylaws of the incorporated association.

1.7 **Definitions.** The definitions contained in or adopted by the Declaration shall be applicable to these Bylaws.

Article 2

MEETINGS OF ASSOCIATION

2.1 **Place of Meetings.** The Association shall hold meetings at such suitable place convenient to the unit owners as may be designated by the board of directors from time to time.

2.2 **Organizational and Turnover Meeting.** Within three years after the date of conveyance of the first unit to a person other than a successor declarant, or within ninety (90) days after Declarant has sold and conveyed to a person other than a successor declarant seventy-five percent (75%) or more of the units in the Condominium, whichever is earlier, the Declarant shall call the first meeting of the unit owners to organize the Association and to elect directors. Notice of such meeting shall be given to all owners as provided in Section 2.5. If Declarant fails to call the meeting, the meeting may be called and notice given by any unit owner or Mortgagee of a unit. The expense of giving notice shall be paid or reimbursed by the Association. At the meeting, Declarant shall deliver to the Association such information and documents as may be required by the Oregon Condominium Act. Nothing in this Section shall be construed as preventing the Declarant from calling the organizational and turnover meeting prior to such date, or from calling informal, informational meetings of the unit owners.

2.3 **Annual Meetings.** The annual meetings of the Association shall be held on such date each year as may be established by the board of directors from time to time, or if the board does not establish such a date, then in the month of February at such hour and on such date as the chairperson may designate, or if the chairperson should fail to designate such date by the first day of February then on the last Tuesday in February. The annual meetings shall be for the purpose of electing directors and for the transaction of such other business as may properly come before the meeting.

2.4 **Special Meetings.** Special meetings of the Association may be called by the chairperson or by a majority of the board of directors, and must be called by such officers upon receipt of a written request from unit owners owning at least thirty percent (30%) of the voting rights stating the purpose of the meeting. Business transacted at a special meeting shall be confined to the purposes stated in the notice of meeting.

2.5 **Notice of Meetings.** Notice of the annual meeting and all other meetings of the Association stating the time and place and the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is being called shall be given by the chairperson or secretary. Such notice shall be in writing and mailed not less than ten (10) days nor more than fifty (50) days prior to the date of the meeting to each unit owner at his or her address as it appears on the books of the Association and to any first Mortgagee requesting such notice. Proof of such mailing shall be given by the affidavit of the person giving the notice. For a period of ten (10) years following recording of the Declaration, notices of meetings shall also be given to Declarant in the same manner as given to unit owners, and Declarant or a representative of Declarant shall be entitled to attend such meetings. Notice of meeting may be waived by any unit owner before or after meetings. When a meeting is adjourned for less than 30 days, no notice of the adjourned meeting need be given other than by announcement at the meeting at which such adjournment takes place.

2.6 **Voting.** Each owner of a unit shall have one vote for each unit of the Condominium owned by such unit owner; provided, however, that Declarant shall have five votes for each unit owned by Declarant until the earlier of (a) when Declarant has sold and conveyed to a person other than a successor declarant 75 percent or more of the units in the Condominium, or (b) three years after the date of the first conveyance of a unit to a person other than a successor declarant. The Declarant shall be entitled to vote as the unit owner of any then existing units retained by the Declarant, and the board of directors shall be entitled to vote on

behalf of any unit that has been acquired by or on behalf of the Association; provided, however, that the board of directors shall not be entitled to vote such units in any election of directors.

2.7 **Absentee Ballots and Proxies.** A vote may be cast in person, by absentee ballot or by proxy. A proxy given by a unit owner to any person who represents such owner at meetings of the Association shall be in writing and signed by such owner, and shall be filed with the secretary at any time prior to or at the start of the meeting. An owner may not revoke a proxy given pursuant to this Section except by actual notice of revocation to the person presiding over a meeting or to the board of directors if a vote is being conducted by written ballot in lieu of a meeting. A proxy shall not be valid if it is undated or purports to be revocable without notice. A proxy shall terminate one year after its date unless the proxy specifies a shorter term. Every proxy shall automatically cease upon sale of the unit by its owner. A unit owner may pledge or assign such owner's voting rights to a Mortgagee. In such a case, the Mortgagee or its designated representative shall be entitled to receive all notices to which the unit owner is entitled under these Bylaws and to exercise the unit owner's voting rights from and after the time that the Mortgagee shall give written notice of such pledge or assignment to the board of directors. Any first Mortgagee may designate a representative to attend all or any meetings of the Association.

2.8 **Fiduciaries and Joint Owners.** An executor, administrator, guardian or trustee may vote, in person or by proxy, at any meeting of the Association with respect to any unit owned or held in such capacity, whether or not the same shall have been transferred to his or her name; provided, that such person shall satisfy the secretary that he or she is the executor, administrator, guardian or trustee, holding such unit in such capacity. Whenever any unit is owned by two or more persons jointly, according to the records of the Association, the vote or proxy of such unit may be exercised by any one of the owners then present, in the absence of protest by a co-owner. In the event of disagreement among the co-owners, the vote of such unit shall be disregarded completely in determining the proportion of votes given with respect to such matter unless a valid court order establishes the authority of a co-owner to vote.

2.9 **Tenants and Contract Vendors.** Unless otherwise expressly stated in the rental agreement or lease, all voting rights allocated to a unit shall be exercised by the owner/landlord. Unless otherwise stated in the contract, all voting rights allocated to a unit shall be exercised by the vendee of any recorded land sale contract on the unit.

2.10 **Quorum of Unit Owners.** At any meeting of the Association, members holding twenty percent (20%) of the voting rights, present in person or by proxy, shall constitute a quorum. The subsequent joinder of a unit owner in the action taken at a meeting by signing and concurring in the minutes of the meeting shall constitute the presence of such person for the purpose of determining a quorum. When a quorum is once present to organize a meeting, it cannot be broken by the subsequent withdrawal of a unit owner or owners. If any meeting of members cannot be organized because of a lack of quorum, the members who are present, either in person or by proxy, may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum is present. The quorum for the adjourned meeting shall be reduced to ten percent (10%) of the voting rights, present in person or by proxy.

2.11 **Majority Vote.** The vote of the holders of more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting rights, present in person or by proxy at a meeting at which a quorum is constituted, shall be binding upon all unit owners for all purposes except where a higher percentage vote is required by law, by the Declaration or by these Bylaws.

2.12 **Order of Business.** The order of business at annual meetings of the Association shall be:

- (a) Calling of the roll and certifying of proxies;
- (b) Proof of notice of meeting or waiver of notice;
- (c) Reading of minutes of preceding meeting;
- (d) Reports of officers;
- (e) Reports of committees, if any;
- (f) Election of directors;
- (g) Unfinished business;
- (h) New business; and
- (i) Adjournment.

2.13 **Rules of Order.** Unless other rules of order are adopted by resolution of the Association or the board of directors, all meetings of the Association shall be conducted according to the latest edition of *Robert's Rules of Order* published by Robert's Rules Association.

2.14 **Ballot Meetings.**

(a) At the discretion of the board of directors, any action that may be taken at any annual, regular or special meeting of the Association may be taken without a meeting if the Association delivers a written ballot to every member that is entitled to vote on the matter; provided, however, that a ballot meeting may not substitute for the organizational and turnover meeting described in Section 2.2 or, if a majority of the units are the principal residences of the occupants, for the annual meetings of the Association. The written ballot shall set forth each proposed action and provide an opportunity to vote for or against each proposed action.

(b) The board of directors shall provide owners with at least ten (10) days' notice before written ballots are mailed or otherwise delivered. If, at least three (3) days before written ballots are scheduled to be mailed or otherwise distributed, at least ten percent (10%) of the owners petition the board of directors requesting secrecy procedures, a written ballot must be accompanied by a secrecy envelope, a return identification envelope to be signed by the owner and instructions for marking and returning the ballot. The notice shall state the general subject matter of the vote, the right of the owners to request secrecy procedures, the date after which

